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ncependent Aucior's Report

To the Members of Duet india Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited (the
“Company”) which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss
(including other comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act") in the
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generaily
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial statements.

Management's and Board of Directors Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities, selection and application of appropriate accounting policies: making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whather due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company of to cease operations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reparting process.

As
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BSR&Co.LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion, Reasaonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the ecaonomic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion, The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i} of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. if we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and evenis
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Other Matter

a. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited by the
predecessor auditor who had expressed an unmodified opinion on 17 August 2023,

|

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order”) issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure A" a statement
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BSR&Co.LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.
2 A, As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a.

We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books except for the following:

the back-up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in back-up of books
of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode was not maintained on
the servers physically located in India with respect to accounting software used for:

»  revenue accounting during 1 April 2023 to 15 July 2023,
+  procurement and general ledger during 1 April 2023 to 26 March 2024, and
+  general ledger accounting during 1 April 2023 to 23 August 2023.

In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the back up
requirements in the independent auditor's report of service organisation in relation to payroll
process operated by third party service provider, we are unable to comment on whether the
back-up of books of accounis and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode
relevant to the said process was maintained on the servers physically located in India for the
period 1 December 2023 to 31 March 2024.

Matiers stated in the paragraph (B)}f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g} of the Companies
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account,

In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 01 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

the qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph b above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b} and paragraph 2B(f)
below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014,

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controfs with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
Report in “Annexure B".

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of

the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

a.

The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 on its financial
position in its financial statements - Refer Note 34 to the financial statements.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

d (i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

the Note 43(vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested
Page 3 of 13
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited

(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity{ies), including foreign entities (*Intermediaries®),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(i) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in
the Note 43(vii) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities {"Funding Parties”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any rmanner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties ("Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iii) Based on the audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause (i) and (i) of Rule 11{e), as provided under (i) and (ii) above,
contain any material misstatement.

e. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

f. Based on our examination which included test checks, except for the instances mentioned below,
the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of accounts, which has a
feature of recording audit trail {edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the period
for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective softwares:

* In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
requirement in the independent auditor's report of service organisation from 1 December
2023 to 31 December 2023 and in the absence of independent auditor’s report in relation to
controls at the said service organization from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 for an
accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating to payroll process,
which is operated by third-party software service provider, we are unable to comment
whether audit trail feature for the said software was enabled and operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.

*  The feature of recording audit trail {edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to
log any direct data changes for one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books
of account relating to revenue, procurement and General Ledger.

= In case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating
to revenue, the feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the
database ievel to log any direct data changes and the audit trail (edit log) facility was not
available at the application level throughout the year.

Further, for the periods where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the
respeclive accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature
being tampered with except that in case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining
general ledger for the period 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024, due to limitations in the system
configuration, we are unable to comment whether there were any instances of the audit trail
feature being tampered with, ﬁ "

Page 4 of 13
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor's Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

in our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not
prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be commented upon
by us.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountanis
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Anbark ek

Ankush Goel

Partner
Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICA] UDIN:24505121BKGXDK3959
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

(i) (a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B} The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(i) (b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(in) ()

(b

(iki)

(a)

(b)

(c)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in three years. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies
were noficed on such veriffcation.

According o the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties disclosed in the financial
statements are held in the name of the Company. However, original title deeds are under lien
with banks for the loan facilities availed by the Company. Therefore we could not verify those
litle deeds. However, we have received independent confirmation from security trustee.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
or intangible assets or both during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate. No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stocks and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventory.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits
in excess of five crore rupees in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of
security of current assets at any point of time of the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ii)(b) of the Order
i not applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments, provided
guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, secured or
unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties during the year.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees, or provided security
to any other entity during the year. Accordingly, provisions of clauses 3(iii}{a) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees, or provided security
to any other entity during the year. Accordingly, provisions of clauses 3(iii){b) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 (Continued)

(d)

{e)

(f)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii) (a)

of the records of the Company, in the following cases of loan given, in our opinion there is no
stipulation of schedule of repayment of principal and payment of interest. These loans are
repayable on demand and the same are overdue for repayment and hence, the repayment is
not regular:

Name of the entity Amount (in million) Remarks
Sare Saamag Reality Private 1.10 The loan are repayable on
Limited demand.
DIH Project Management 3.38 The loan are repayable on
Private Limited demand.
Duet India Hotels Private 7.40 The loan are repayable on
Limited demand.

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the
year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more than ninety days in respect
of loans given except an amount of Rs. 11.86 millions {principal amount) and Rs Nil (interest)
overdue for more than ninety days as at 31 March 2024. In our opinion, reasonable steps have
not been taken by the Company for recavery of the principal and interest. Further, the Company
has not given any advances in the nature of loans to any party during the year,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no lean or advance in the nature of loan granted falling
due during the year, which has been renewed or extended or fresh loans granted to settle the
overdues of existing loans given to same parties.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of cur examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not granted any loans or advances in the
nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of
repayment.

According fo the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of records of the Company, the Company has neither made any investments nor has it given
loans or provided guarantee or security and therefore the relevant provisions of Sections 185
and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) are not applicable to the Company. Accordingly,
clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from
the public. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
rendered by the company. Accordingly, clause 3(vi} of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liahility in respect of Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and
Value added tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of

P\L Page 7 of 13



BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 (Continued)

(b)

{viii)

(ix) (a)

(b)

{©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(x) (a)

(b)

(xi) (a)

b

account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Service Tax, Provident
Fund, Duty of Customs or Cess or other statutory dues have generally been regularly deposited
with the appropriate authorities, though there have been slight delays in a few cases of deposit
of Income-Tax and Employees State Insurance.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and Service
Tax, Provident Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or
other statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a pericd of more than six months
from the date they hecame payable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no statutory dues relating to Goods and Service Tax,
Provident Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or other
statutory dues, which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of
any dispute.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any fransactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and
borrowing or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our exarmination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority.

According o the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company
has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed by us,
and on an gverall examination of the financial statements of the Company, we report that the
Company has used funds raised on short-term basis aggregating to INR 81.78 millions for long-
term purposes.

The Company does not hold any investment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act) during the year ended 31 March 2024 . Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(e) is not
applicable.

The Company does not hold any investment in any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures (as
defined under the Act} during the year ended 31 March 2024, Accordingly, clause 3(ix){(f) is not
applicable.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section {12} of
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 (Continued)

(c)

(xii}

(xiii)

(xiv) (a)

(b)

(xv)

(xvi) (a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(xvil)

{viii)

{xix}

Section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule
13 of the Companies {Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3({xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of a listed Company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on
the basis of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related parties
are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions
have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting
standards.

In our apinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an Intemal Audit system and is not required to have an intemmal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act.

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act. Accordingly, clause 3{xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934, Accordingly, clause 3(xvi}(a) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934, Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3{xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies
{Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause
3(xvi){d) are not applicable.

The Company has incurred cash losses of Rs 15.97 millions in the current financial year and Rs
49.05 millions in the immediately preceding financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements which explains that the Company has
incurred losses in current year and previous year and has accumulated losses as at 31 March
2024. Further, the Company's current liabilities exceed its current assets as at 31 March 2024
by Rs. 84.39 millions. The Company has support letter from the Holding Company for providing
financial support for atleast one year from the date of signing off the financial statements.

On the basis of the above and according to the information and explanations given to us, on
the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and
payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our
knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examination of
the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us
to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the Company
is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the independent Auditor’'s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 {Continued)

fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is
not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is
based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any
assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date,
will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

(xx) The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the
Company. Accordingly, clauses 3(xx){a) and 3(xx){b) of the Qrder are not applicable.

ForBSR&Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Aoty As

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 28 May 2024 ICAlI UDIN:24505121BKGXDK3959
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Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i} of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels
(Chennai OMR) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate intemal financial controls with
reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31
March 2024, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria
established by the Company cansidering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”) except for the possible effects of the material
weakness described in *Basis of Qualified Opinion™ section of our report below, on the achievement of the
objectives of the control criteria, the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to the financial
statements were operating effectively as on 31 March 2024,

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining in nature, timing

and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 31 March 2024 financial statements of the Company, and
the material weakness do not affect our opinion on the financial statement of the Company.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following material
weakness has been identified in the operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls with
reference to financial statements as at 31 March 2024,

The Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of Generat
Information Technology Control (GITCs) and automated Information Technology (IT) Application Controls
over the Company's Opera Application Software were not operating effectively as at 31 March 2024, This
could potentially result in understatement/ overstatement of revenue from operations.

A 'material weakness' is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with
reference to financial statements, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the Company's financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of
its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Ao
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to
an audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects,

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
intemnal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intermal control
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial contrals with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion orimproper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the intemal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of

Al
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited for the year ended 31
March 2024 (Continued)

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Wﬁ’m

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDK3859
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Duet India Holels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited
CIN:US5101 HR2OIOF TCD46577

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024

(AN amotnes are i INR millions, unless otherwise staled)

ASSETS

Nom=turrent assets
Propenty, plant and equipment
Inangible assets
Financial assets
Loans
Other financial assets
Income tax assets (net)
Other non-current assels
Total mon-current assels

Curremt assels
Inventories
Financial assets
Trade receivables
Loanz
Cash and cash squivalents
Qther financial agsets
Oiher current assets
Total curremi asseds

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
Ingtruments entirely equity in nature
Onher equity

Toial equity

Liabllities
Mon-cerrent liabililies
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total nom- curreat liabilities

Corrent liobilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
- 1atal oulstanding dues of micro enterprises
and small enlerprizes
- towel ding dues of ereditors other than
micro enterprises and small enlerprises
Other financial liabilinies
Other current liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Total hiabilities -

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIARILITIES

The notes from MNote | 1o Note 46 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date aitached

For BSR & Co. LLP
Charrered Accounianis
1C AT Firm Registraton Mo {01 248W/W-1 00022

b Gk

Ankush Gosl
Periter
Membership Mo 505121

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Mole

O~ W

12

13

13

19
20

23
24
25

Asal Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
421 14 44572
- 043
2258 1335
303 203
- 34
446,75 461,39
E 043
129] 1025
1040 1597
1174 aon
1880 17 .65
42.78 4446
489,53 506.05
44 55 a4 55
580 64 SBO 64
(149.82) (117.39)
{123.63) (92.20)
435 18 434 (0
LK1 14
48599 48554
47 82 1063
Xl 130
3158 3210
1675 1627
15 48 13 59
13.88 26 82
12717 112.71
#13.18 598.25
489.53 £06.0%

#ar and on behalf of Board of Dhrectors of
Dued India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Privaie Limited

Simranjeet Singh
fhrecior
DTN, 08083337

DIN 07386515

Place: Gurugram
Dare: 29 May 2024

Place; Qunygram
Daie 29 May 2024

QM»TJ'—C‘-,L



Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN:US5101 HR2010FTC046877

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al camounts are in INR millions, unless otherwise siated)

Income

Revenue from operations
Other income

Total income

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed
Employee benefits expenses
Other expenses

Total expenses

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax

Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Loss before tax
Tax expenses
Current tax
Deferred tax
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Tiems thar witl not be reclassified 1o profit or loss
« Re-measurernent loss on defined benefit obligations
- Income tax relating to items mentioned above

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss per equity share (Face value of INR 10 cach)

Basic (INR)
Diliited (INR}

For the year ended For the year ended
Note 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
26 151.10 14512
27 10.07 6,62
161.17 151.74
28 743 EA L
29 37.060 3494
32 8394 89.70
128.37 131.80
32.80 19.94
30 49 66 75.14
3t 2640 2044
76.06 104.58
{43.26) {84.64)
8
- 0.05
- 0.05
(43.26) (84.39)
i} 023 0.18
- (0.05)
023 013
{43.03) (84.46)
33
(0.59) 16.13)
{0 69) (6.13)

The notes from Note | to Note 46 form an integral pan of these fnancial starements

As per our report of even date attached

For BSR & Co. LLP
{Chartered Accountants
[CAl Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W.- 100022

Ao fueck

Ankush Goel
Partaer
Membership No ; 509822

Place. Gurugram
Date” 29 May 2024

For and on behaif of Board of Directors of
Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

Rithpt N Latta Simranjeet Singh
Ihirectar Lhirecior
DIN: 07886515 DIN: 02083337

Flace: Gurugram
Date: 2% WMay 2024

Place. Gurugram
Date: 29 Way 2024
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Dwet Tmdia Honels (Chenmad OME) Privae Linited
CIN:USSI0THRIMOFTLGETT

SAgiement of Cash Flows for the year ended 51 March 2824
1Al comonitis are m INR aiifiond. inless oifterwane sioted)

A, Cath Mows fram operating aciivilicy

Lass before tax

Adjusiments for:
Deprociption and anmeisalion cxpensc
Lass on forcign exchynpe Mocreation tncty
Pronsions babilives ng longer required wntten back
Liierest ncome
Proviswn for bad and doublfol debas
Loss on dispesal of property. plam and equipmeni
Finance costs

Operating cash Bows kelore movement in assels and labditics
Diecreass in Wmaemorics
(Incrcasc) i wrade reccivables
tIncreasc) in odher fmancial asscls
Decrense f tinerease) n odwr 165015
(Decrease) §imerease b rade payatdes
Incrcase in other fabilitics
{Deercase} £ mcrcase in provisiong
Intrease in other fnancial liabalics

Cash penerated from sperstions
Incom: wxes paid {nel}

Nci cash pemersied by sporuting weihidics (A)

B, Cash Maws earm investing wcibvities

Purchase of property, planl and cquipmicn and iMangible assas

Interest recarved
Bank deposiis maiured
Bank deposns made
Ner cash {wsed im) / penerarcd from invesiing acuitics (B)

€. Cach Mews lam finaocing activilies

Capinal contrbwdion on behall of the parcnd compamy - reccived
Capital connbulion on behall of The pares compamy; - paid back

Ropay ment of o 1eTm bormonangs

Pxy mend of processm (oes and otber ancilian borrowing cost
Friumee cosis pakd

Barrowings from kmcreompam:

Repaymeny proceeds [ron shom kerm borrowings rom bavk - ney

Nel cash gracrated from / jused in} Mnomcing aclividies (C)

Mel (deereaseiinerease in cach amd £ach cqnivalents (A-HBHC)
Canh and cash cquivalents al v beginmng of Lhe year
Cash and cash cquis alonty 2t U end of 1he year

Nutes to statement of cash Mows
L Componems of cash amd cush cquivaloats
Tk on kand
Balances with banks
= In CAUTONL BCCOUNES
Cazh amd cash cquivalents at per mote 13

B Movement i Mmanchad borrowings

Opening Balance

Chumpes Mrem fmancing cish Mews

Repay ment of lowg lerm barmowings

Borrawdngs [rom inbercompamn

Payment of processing fees and oler anciliary barrowing cos
{Repayineni ¥ prococds from shoe torm borrgwings from bank

Diher mom enth chanpes

Closing Balance

For the year cnded For the yeur ended
31 March 324 31 March 2823
{41 26 84643
2064l %44
(1 138
RR] 440
1.26) {1.0%)
Ok 4
il .
40 fa 00
2004 1447
LB ] ool
AN L
[{[F.2)} 118
126 16 48y
{7 26) 91
1ih Nyl
&4 5l
(1) 233
[ %] 1115
(0.35) el
53.%7 16.27
BT} [ERA]
D13 136
- 61
inKly .
(20N 21,74
[FRL] IS
{0300
{0,637 -
- [TERZ1!
4 I 133.30)
34 80 -
005 398
.63 26,41
15.57) 1208
1547 3197
1840 1547
Al
31 March M14 31 March 1021
037 1150
i3 1547
1BAU 1597
—— —
For the year enied Forthe year cided
31 March 2024 3 Mareh 1023
T 491 50
i E3)
3420 -
- [ERE]]
@ 95) 1313
511 [
533,24 A, T5

ik The Cash Flows from aperpting acunitics soouon i Staiemen of Cash Flows las been prepared i accordance with the Trdirced Method” as scl oun 1l Tnd AS 7

“Srarement of Cagh Flows®

“The noles fram Mote | 16 Nolc 46 form an micgral pon of tese fingncigl saicncuts

Asper ol repont of cven e ansakicd

v BAR& Co LLP
Chawsered loooumians
IC AL Firmy Ragrsirauon Mo W ELEWAR- 100022

Anbush Goel
Parier
Iemibership Mo : 54822

Place; Gumgmm
Drawe 29 Mm 2024

For and on behall of Board of Direelors of
Ducy ladia Antels (Chensai QMR Privale Limiled

DN TRRASIS

Place: Gurugram
Date 29 May 0

gmm-TJ G

Simranject Singh
Thrector
DIM AIBI83337

Phraze: Gurngrom
Cale ¥ May 3024
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Duwed India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited
CIN:USS 10T HR2ZO10F T CO46377

Seatement of Changes im Equity (or the year eaded 31 March 2024
(AN amewtns are in INR miffions, unfess othenrise staied)

a. Equity share capital

Particudars Numiber of shares Amoumt
As al O Apeil 2022 4455473 44.55
Changes ib aquity share capital during the year - N
Asg at 31 March 2023 4455473 d4.55
Changes in squiry share capital during the year - -
As at 31 March 2024 4455473 44.55
b. Insirumems entirely equity in namwre
Particulars Number of Debeniures Amount
Fully Compulsority Convertible Debentares (FCCD)
Ag at 0l Apeil 2022 35,064,466 58064
Changes during the year - -
Asg at 31 March 2023 58,064,466 550.64
Changes during the year - -
As at 31 March 2024 55064466 550.64
. Ouler equity (refer note 18)
Particlars Capital Reserves and surplus Taotal
<ontribution on Secwrities Retained earnings | Remeasmrement of
behalf of the premium defined benehit plans
parent company
Balance as st 01 April 2022 54.23 308.338 (1,027.01) - {66-4.40)
Loss for the year - - (34 59) - {8459}
Other prak Toss (net of tax) - - D3 013
Total comprehensive losy - - (834.5%) 0.3 {84.46)
Addition during the year 3195 - = - 3105
Repaymeni during the year - - - - -
Other reserves - - n42 - 0.42
Transferred to rerzined earnings - - al3 (0.13) -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 £52% 308,33 (LL10,0:5) - {7173
Loss For the year - - (43 26) - {43.26)
Other comprehensive loss (et of tax) - - - 023 0,13
Total comprehensive loss - - {43.26) 0.23 (43.03)
Transferred to rewined earnings - - 013 (023) -
Addinon duning the year 1210 - - - 1210
Repayment dunng the year (0.50 - - - 9.50)
Balance ac ar 31 March 2024 95,98 04,38 (1.154,08) - {14802

The notes from Note | 10 Noie 46 form an mcegral part of these Ananaal staements

Az per our report of even date anached

For BSR& Co. LLP
Charrered Accourtanis
ICAL Farm Registration No  101248W/W-100022

y T  §

Ankursh Gosl
Parier
Membership No : 509822

Place Gurugram
Dare 25 May 2024

Far and on behalf of Board of Directars of
Duet India Hotels (Chemnai OMR) Privare Limited

g’&wﬂq»’a” 8y 7 h

ulX Latta
Lhirecior
DN DTBBES15

Place: Gurogram
Date 29 May 2024

Simranjeet Singh
irectar
DIM: 08083337

Place Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

la(i) Corporate information

Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on July 21, 2010
under the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development,
operation and management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“ACIC Mauritius 1 and “ACIC Mauritius 2™’y on 30 March 2023
had entered into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI”
or “Acquirer”) for conditional sale of their sharecholding in the Company to SAMHI Hotels Limited
(“SAMHI” or “Acquirer™). During the current year, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on
10 August 2023, resulting in SAMHI being the holding company of the Company w.¢.f. 10 August
2023.

la(ii) Basis of preparation

A.

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

The financial statements are approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.
Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2(a) and
Note 2(b).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.
Critical estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.
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Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:
e Financial instruments - Note 37
e Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and other assets — Note 37
e Assessment of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets — Note 3 and 4
e Estimation of obligations relating to employee benefits (including actuarial assumptions) —
Note 29
e Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources — Note 34
e Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized - Note 8

E. Current/ Non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

F. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a finance team of Holding Company that has overall responsibility for overseeing all
significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the chief
financial officer.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

*» Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

» Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

» Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far
as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: USS5101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2a. Material accounting policies
1) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as an asset if, and only if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.

Items of property, plant and equipment (including capital-work-in-progress) are measured at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Freehold land is carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly aitributable
cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the item to working condition for its
intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Transition to IndAS

The Company had elected to use the fair value of all the item of property, plant and equipment on the
date of transition i.e. 1 April 2021, and designate the same as deemed cost.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on cost of item of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual

values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in the
statement of profit and loss. Freehold land is not depreciated.

@&CQ(
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Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: U5S5101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative period are as
follows:

Asset Management’s estimate of | Useful life as per Schedule 11
Useful Life to the Companies Act, 2013
Building 10-60 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3-6 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery 5-20) years 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-15 years 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management believes that its
estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to
use these assets.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from / (up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off).

2) Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset
will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Following initial
recognition, other intangible asset, including those acquired by the Company in a business combination
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in
depreciation and amortization in Statement of profit and loss.

The estimated useful lives are as foliows:

Category of assets Management’s estimate of Useful Life

Computer software 3-10 years




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
{All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The Company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest (‘EIR”) method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is considered as a
prepayment and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through statement of profit and loss
are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to statement of
profit and loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other
changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in statement of profit and loss. The Company has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

« Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Loans and Borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in statement
of profit and loss.
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Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Classification and Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assets is classified as measured at:
¢ Amortised cost

FVOCI — debt investment;

FVOCI - equity investment;

FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the changes in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investmment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may irevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessiment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is

held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is

provided to management. The information considered inctudes:

~  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model {(and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of confractual cash

flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
at FVTPL losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
amortised cost effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
FvOCl under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
FVOCI represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.
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Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred
assets are not derecoguized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simuitaneously.

Modification of financial assets and Habilities
Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial assets are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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Fully Compulsorily convertible debentures

The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion). FCCDs are separated into liability (as applicable) and equity
components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount
is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is
extinguished or converted. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option
meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification.

4) Impairment
A. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit- impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise;

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except
for the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possibie default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).
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In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufticient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.

B. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest Company of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an individual asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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3)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories which comprises stock of food and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and
stock-in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises all
costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and
condition. In determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO”) method is used. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to make the sale.

6) Provisions (other than employee benefits)

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Expected
future operating losses are not provided for.

When the Company expects some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision will be
reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, and only when, it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is
treated as a separate asset.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The

unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.

7) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly withing
the control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.
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Contingent Asset

Contingent asset is not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognized.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
8) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an
asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are
capitalized as part of cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

9) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee state insurance

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the profit or loss
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. If the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date,
the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the
balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.
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The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yields on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
service cost.

Other long-term employee benefits — compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the
compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the profit or loss.

10) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer. Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts.

Contract asset represents the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the
passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:
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Room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation services

Revenue comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to
hotel operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages
which is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have
been provided as per the contract with the customer.

11) Recognition of interest income or expense

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

12} Foreign currency
Foreign currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Company
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

13) Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expecied tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.
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Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
* temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that:
- is not a business combination; and
- at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
(i1) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
» temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans in the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultanecusly.

14) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM)

Identification of segments
In accordance with [nd AS 108 “Operating Segments”, the operating segments used to present segment

information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to
the segments and assess their performance. '
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15) Earnings per share

Basic Earning Per Share
Basic eamnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earning Per Share

Diluted eamings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic
eamings per share) after considering the effect of interest and other financing costs or income (net of
attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares by the weighted average number of
equity shares considered for deriving basis earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average number
of equity shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

17) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balance with banks, demand deposits with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

18) Measurement of earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (EBITDA)

The Company has elected to present earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and
tax (EBITDA) as a separate line item on the face of the statement of profit and loss. The Company
measures EBITDA on the face of profit/ (loss} from continuing operations. In the measurement, the
Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense, exceptional items and
tax expense.

20) Share Capital

Equity shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance
with Ind AS 12.

21) Government grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i)
the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant/subsidy will be
received.

Export Promotion Capital Goods scheme

The grant or subsidy received to compensate the import cost of assets, subject to an export obligation
is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in ratio of fulfilment of associated export
obligations.

2-.8Co
@ <
© o




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2b. Changes in material accounting policies
Material accounting policy information

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS ) from 1 April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant” accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting
policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users
need to understand other information in the financial statements.
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3 Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of carryimg amoumt

Frechold Buildimgs Furnitures and Plant and machiwery Compaters aod Totad
land fiximres Aceessories

Gross carrymg amount
Balance as at #1 April 2022 14620 23795 4732 64 50 19 49513
Additions during the year - 048 013 020 1.7% 264
Deletions dunng the year B w - = - :
Balance as atr 3| March 2023 146.20 238.43 47.50 6500 4.74 51.37
Additions during the year - - D63 035 003 1.58
Deletions during the year - - - 022 033 060
Balamee as al 31 March 2024 146.20 23343 48.1% 65.63 444 502.85
Aceurnulated depreciation
Balawmce as a1 01 April 2022 - 78] 173 1017 217 2T 88
Depreciation charge for the year . 78] 774 1020 152 2827
Feversal on disposal of asseis - = ] - S S
Balamre as a1 31 March 2023 - 15.62 1547 2037 4.69 56.15
Depreciation charge for the year - T84 780 1028 004 597
Reversal on disposal of assers - - - 012 029 0.41
Balasce 35 al 31 March 2024 - 23.46 23.17 30.54 444 18]
Net carrying amount
Balamte as al 31 March 2023 14620 22281 3203 44.63 11,11 44572
Balance 35 a1 31 March 2024 146.20 214,97 24.98 35409 - 42004

Reler nate |9 for mformation on property, plant and equipment pledoed as secunity by the Company

On wransition to Tnd A3, the Company has elected 1o use fair value of all items of properry, plant and equipment a< at 91 April 2021 and designate dhe same 25 deamed cosL

4 Indangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amownt

C sofltware Toral
Gross carrying amount
Balance a5 a1 01 April 1022 77 271
Addivons duning the year = 2
Delerions during the year - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 277 2,77
Additicns during the year -
Deletions during the year - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 2T 277
Accomulated ameriisatien
Balance as at 01 April 2022 117 117
Amartisation expense for the year 117 117
Reversal on disposal of assets - -
Balance as at 3I March 2023 b1} LM
Anortisation expense for the year 043 Q43
Reversal on disposal of agseis - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 21 2.7
Met carrying amoont
Balance as at 31 March 2013 943 043
Balance as al 31 March 2014 - 5

On wransiion to Ind AS, the Company has elected (0 use carrying value of all iteins of inanyible assets as a1 01 Apnil 2021 and desiynate the same as deemed cost

¢ 8Co




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN:USS101HR20LOFTCD46877

Motes ty the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Al amoumts are in INR millians, unless otherwise stated)

5 MNon-current linancial assets - Loans

(Unsecured} Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
To parties other than related parties
Intercorporate loans (repayable on demand) 16.76 10.80
Less: prowision for doubtful loans (10,76} {10.80)
6 Mon-current financial assets - Others
fUnsecured considered good) As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Bank deposits (due to mature affer 12 months from the reporting period)* # 19.81 784
Security deposits 277 251
22.58 10.35
Bank deposits (due to mature after 12 As at Asat
months from the reporting date) includes 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
# Bank deposits under lien 18.54 7.34
* Tnterest accrued 1.27 -
7 Inceme fax asseis (net) As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Tax deducted at source 303 268
303 2.68
&5 Co
S
@ -
s8] o]

A




Duer Imilia Hotels (Chenmai OMR) Private Limited

CIN:U55101 HR2010FTC 046577

Modes to ibe financial staterments for the year ended 31 March 2024
{4l aronnrss are in INR mulfions, prfess ofencise siared)

8 Incomes tax For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
A: The major components of impome Eax expense / (ineome) are
(i} A s ed in of profit or loss
Current 1ax - .
Deferred 1ax - 005

- 0405

For the year ended  For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{ii) Incomoe tax recopnized in sther comprehensive income
Deferred 1ax charge fcredit):
Income tax effect of re-measurement gains on defined beneti ptans - (005}
Income tax credited to other comprehensive income - 005y
{iil) Reconcliation of eMfective tax rate (tax and the ace ing profit multiplied by Company's d it ax rate)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
*% Amoumt Y Amount
Loss belore tax 143 26) (34 64)
Tax using the Company’s domestic (ax rate 2517 (1039 2517 (21.30)
Tax ¢iTect of amouots which are not deductible (taxabde} in cakculating taxable mcome
Deferred tax asset not created on business losses and unabsorbed depreciation 27151 {117.63) 2517 2130
Others 1207 20) 129.00
Effechive tax rate - - - -
{iv) Deflerred tax assets / liabilities
As at As at
31 March 2024 3t March X023
Delerred tax assels
Carry forward busi loss and Unabsorbed deprecian 13393 281 65
Property, plant and equipment and Intangikble assets 3732 1335
Provision for employee benefi 078 039
Allowances for doubtful loans and advances 067 adé
Difference in carrying amount of borrowing between books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1961 055 003
Tedal delerved tan assets [A) 178.25 19588
Deferred tax liabilities - -
Deferred tax asseds {net) mot recognised™ 178.2% 29398

Deferred tax assed / (Hahility) = g

*The Conipany has significant unabsorbed depreciation and carry torward business losses as per (noome Tax Act, 1961 [n view of absence of reasonable certainty of sufficient fulure
taxable profits, deferred ax assets has been recounised 1o the extent ol deferred 1ax liabilities only

1¥) Movement in temporar'y differemces
31 March 2024

Balance as ar Deferred tax Balamce as at
¢l April 2023 dilTeremces 31 March 2024
(A} generated but not (C=A+B)
Particulars vecogmised during
202324
(B)
|Deferred tax assets
Carry forward husi loss and 1fnabsorbed depreciation 28167 1142 72) 13593
Prevasion for empl [ 033 0,39 078
Less all for trade receivabl 046 a2l 067
Difference in carrving ameant of borrowing berween books of aceount and as per Income Tax Act 1961 003 52 055
Propeny. plant and equi and | ible assers 1335 23 67 37132
20598 {117.63) 178.23

Deferred tax liabilities - - -

Met deferred tax assel 205,98 {117.63) 178,25




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR} Private Limited

CIN:US51 0 HR 201 0FTCO46877

Netes to (ke fingnclal staterments for the year snded 31 March 2024
[t} emonnis are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

31 March 2023

Balamcse as at Deferred tax Balamce as at
01 April 2022 dierences 31 March 2023
i (A) gemerated but nat {C=A+B)
Particulars recognized during
2022-23
(B)
Deferred tax assers
Carry forward business loss and Unabsorbed depr 241 60 40 05 281 65
P for employee benefi 030 0 0% 039
Lase allowance for trade recaivables Q.40 0 D6 046
Property. plant and equipment and Intangible assets 17 40 {4 05} 1335
250.T0 40,23 29588
| Defexred tax linbilities
Diiference in carrying amount of b mg b baooks of and as per Incorme Tax Act 1961 {0.16} 416 -
{0.16) .16 -
Net deferred tax asset 159.54 40.3% 20888
E. Tax losses and wunabsorbed deprecintion carried lforward
Tax bosses for which no deferrad tax assel was recognised with expiry date are as follows
As at
31 March 2024
Amousi Expiry Period (FY)
Busiess loss 1572 2031-32
Unabsorbed depreciation 53629 Never expire
As at
31 March 2423
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Business logs 6264 2024-25
Business Joss 6462 2025-26
Business loss LoD &5 202627
Business loss SR 22 202728
Business boss 1587 2028-19
Business loss 106 74 202530
Blusiness loss L1358 2030-31
Unabsorbed depreciaton 496 57 Nevar expire




Duet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limived
CIN:US31M HRZ010F TCO4687 7

Motes te the finamcial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(¥ amounis are i INR pullions. unless ovherwise sturied)

9

Other nen-curreot asseds As at Asat
{Thseeured. consicered good) 31 March M4 31 March 2023
Prepaid expenses - 006
Capilal advances - 233
- .41
Inventaries Asal As at
Fnlred ai lower of cost amd ner reafisable valpa) 31 March 2024 31 March 1023
Food and beerages - 022
Stores and operaiing supplies - 26
= .48
Curreat financial assels - Trade receivahles As at As al
{insecured) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Trade receivables
~Considered good 1421 203
-Credit impaired alr 073
Unbiled revenue™
~Considered good L[} 132
14,48 10.95
Less: Loss allow ance {1.57) 0T
1291 10,25
* Net of adsances ftom customers of TNR 075 (31| March 2023 - INR 0 7()
(2) The Compant's exposurs (o credit and currencs risks, and 1oss allow ances related Lo Lrade receis ables are disclosed in Note 37
(b} Thers are no disputed wade receivables as a1 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
{¢) For receivables pledped against bomowings. refer 1o Now 19
(d) Refer to Nowe 36 lor receivables from relaied parties
Tra ivahles apeing schedule
As at 31 March 2024
Outstanding for following periods fram date of transaction
. . Lessiman 6 | 6 msnihs -
) & = Total
Particulars Unbdlled Revenwe months 1 year I-Xyears| 2-3years | More than 3 years otal
(i} Undieputed Trade receirables - considersd anod 01 1010 176 234 a0z Q.05 14.31
Lii} Undispuled Trade receis ables - credit impaired - - - - - aif 017
Tatal .19 1004 1.1 234 002 0.22 1448
As at 3 March 2023
Ouistanding for following periods from date af ¥
3 = Less than & | 6 neonils -
B N Total
Particulars Unbilled Revenwe months 1 vear N-Zyears| 2-3years Mare than 3 years o
(1% Undispuied Trade receivables - considered good 1.32 &3 2 oz a0 003 10.25 |
(i} Lindispuied Trade receis ables — eradin impaired - (2] = .49 - - 0.73
Taal 132 627 2.40 091 005 .03 10.93
The Compary racks trade receivables bassd on transacon date. thus ageing of irade receir ables has been disclosed following transacuen date
Cuzrrent financial assets - Leans As at Asat
(Ehsecured) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
To parties other lhan relased parties
Imigrcomporaie loans Lo oibers parties {repavable on demand) 110 110
Less: provision for doubiful koans {110} {110
Current linancial assets - Cash and cash equivaleats As at As at
31 Marrh 2024 31 March 2023
Balances with banks
~ I CUFTENl AC00UNIS JRE] 1547
Cash in hand 017 030
10.40 15,97
Current fnancinl assets - Others A at As at
(Finsecared. considered gomd) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Secunty deposils iy -
Loan 10 emplonee R 06
Inlerest accrued but not due on bank deposits - 003
Olhar receinables {EE =
0.67 ¢.11
Otber current asseds As at Az al
flinsecured. congadered giud) 31 March 2024 31 March }13
Balance with sialulony authonies 1707 143
Prepaid expenses HR2 321
Oher receivables - 243
Adrance 1o suppliers 0y 056
18.50 17.65




Dwct tndia Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN:ASEHH HR2MOFT CU65TT

MNaies 1o the Anancksl siaemenis for the year cnded 31 March 2024
{AH conoiiis core v AN mittions, nrless offrera ite stared)

L&  Equity share capital
Amthprised share Capital
Equin shares of TNR 10 cach

Isswed, subscribed and fully paid up
Equity sharcs of TNR 10 cach

a) Recanciliution of the equiy shaves suisianding at the hegoasing and 4 the ¢od of reporting year

Equily shares

Al the bepmning of the 1oar
Add : Tssucd during the sear
Balance 3t ik end of the ycar

b) Rights, p

o il hed 1o cquily shares

Asul Asat
31 March 2020 H March 2033
Number of sheres Amguni HNumber of shares Amount
4,950 000 4980 LR (R 459
400, HNE 49,90 451,000 4950
4455473 44 33 4433472 + 35
4455473 A4.55 4455 ATT H.55
For the year coded For the yoar ended

31 March 324 3 March 23
Mumber of shares Amount _ Number of shares Amoun
4455473 44 53 4.455472 44 35
4455473 .55 4. 455,473 .55

= et —

The Compan: has only anc closs of equity sharcs kaving the par vakee of TNR 10 por share. Each holder of cquity slare is entithed 1o o » oie per shane. The cquity shares are cnditled 10 reociy e diidend a3 and when deckued In the

c1onl ol liguidmion of te Compant.. the holder of equity shancs will be enditled 1o reociy e remaining asscis of U Company. ailer disiribution of al! prek

shares el by the shancholdeors

<) Shares hedd by Holding compans7Eminy hay ing sigséficant influence

Name of sharcholder

Equity shares of IR 10 cuch fably paid up held by

SAMHI Helels Limited. the holding compann w 2 £ 10 Augosa 2023
ACIC Mawritios L. the bolding compam Ll 10 Auwpus 2023

AL Manrnios 2, entin ha Ing signil inil il 1 August 2023

) Details of shareholders bolding more than 5% shans

Name of sharehalder

Equily sharca of INR 10 coch Tully paid up keld by

SAMH] Hotels Limited, the helding cormpany o c £ 10 Augus) 2033
ACIC Manriiug L, the holding compam il 10 Angusi 2023

ACIC Maontius 2, emity having signifs ul il 10 August 2023

ch Details of shares ield by promosers

A3 ol 30 March 2024

ial amounts The disinbution will be 1o p 1o the mumber ol equin
Asal As at
31 March 2452} M March 2013
Numbor of shares Amaunt Number of shares Amonsy
4435472 4433 - -
- - 3286159 xS
B 1065314 1n 5%
Asul Agal
31 March 3024 31 March 2623
vumber of shares % of bofding Number of shares o ol hobdin
1455473 ot - 0%
- {9 386,159 T
. 9 168 314 4%

HOTEShures atithe Chaoge during  No. of shares

%% chamge during

Pramoder Name bw.im:::ofﬂlc Lhe year hc oo of the scar * af toial Shares the sear
SAMHT Hoaels Limived. the holding compann w e © L0 Aupgmsr 2023 - 4455473 4453473 TG 1004
ACIC Mooniius 1. the holding compam ull 10 Angus) 2023 3 3B6.139 {3.386.13%) 1% -100
ACIC Maornius 2, enlily having ife influence il 10 August 2023 Los 34 {LUs2.314 U -0
Ay s H March 3123
No. of sharcs ot the .
. Change during  No. of shares a4 %4 thaege during
Promater Narmr b\:glnl:::ofllc the sear the ond of the year *e af Lol Shures the year
ACIC Mauntius 1. the holding compony 1l 10 August 2023 3380, 59 - 3,386,149 T6% 1%
ACIC Mauritiug 2, entuty haying significant influcace ull 10 August 2023 L062314 . 1,069 314 4% %
17 Instrumenis enlirely cquily in saiwre
Asal LR
a) Equity C of Fully Comp b Comertiblc Debomtures (FCCDs) of INF. 18 pach, 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Mumber of shares Amgunt Number of shares Amouni
Fully Comp ily Comertible Deb {FCCDs)y ol MR, |4 cach 5 4640 ELAES SR A AGE S £
As al Aral
31 March 22} 31 March 2823
Numbicr of shares Amount Number of shares Amoun
Fully Compulserily Conyvertible Debosures (FCCDs}
Balonce a5 al the begmning of the vear 38064 Mt 330 64 ht. RL RIS Tl 64
Add  [ssucd during the vear - - . -
Balunce al the end af year SR LAG6 SBG4 EHBGA, d6E Shikb4
b Fully Comy ¥ i bk {FCCD3) held Dy holding company
Name of sharcholder Asal As at
31 March 2824 3 March 2uz)
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amimm
SAMHT Holels Limiled. the hokding compain, w e 10 Augus H122 ht RO R SR G4 - -
ACIC Maurinns 1. the holding company U1 117 Augus 2023 E - FRAIG4 L]
Au A at
€] Dredails of shacehalders #olding mose thas 5% Fully Compubiory Cans covibde Debentures (FCCDs) of the Crompuny 31 Murch e 31 Mavch 2023
Number ol shares % of halding Number of shares %o ol holding
SAMHL Hotels Lumted, the halding compam, w ¢ [ 10 Augusy 2023 34064466 %% - -
ACIC tdavnnus 1 the bolding compomy wll 1 Aupust 2033 - 1 i 38064 Jik Lo 1%

& Co

@

oo | Guru ram r-;;




Duct India Hodels {Chemnal OMBE) Privele Limiied
CINUSSHITHEOFTCIMGET T

Naodes 1o dhe financisl statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AT amcnmins are o INR poillions. wnfest othenise simed

) Details of Fully Compulinry Comvertible (FCCDs) held by g
Mo. af FCCDs o the N
Change durisg  No. of sharts al % change durieg
Prom N
oder Name heginl;:;gru’lhe The year \be ¢nid o Lhe year %o of total Shares (e yoar
SAMHI Hotels Limited. the holding company w10 Augus) 2023 - 58064 Aib 58 0d-4 At (1L 104
ACIC Mausitius |, the holding company 1ill 10 August 2023 5806+ 466 (5R.064.465) - [ -1k
Detaily of Fully Compulsary Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by promaters as at 31 March 2023
No, of FCCDs ot the
. 3 Change during  No, of shares at e change during
PromoterZame DCEEIH::;D“'!E the year the end of the year S of4pte) Suares the vear
ACK Mauriting 1. the bolding compam wll 10 Aupna 2023 SH.064.466 - 38064 dG6 s [
Asul LR
Fully Compulsorily Con crtible Debeniures (FCCD) 31 Manch 2024 31 March X123
FAIT204 (31 March 2023 - 5.437.204) of TMR. 17 cach (unsecured) (node 1) 5437 3437
3640737021 March 2023 - R640.737) of INR. 111 cach (unsecured) (mvane 23 IR | B 41
167913442 (31 March 2023 - 16,72 840) of INE 10 cach (unsccured) (e 33 16792 a7 52
147726 (31 March 2023 - 5.147.736) of INR. L1} cach junsecured) moic 3) 3148 5148
202410 {31 March 2023 - 1202 410) of INR. 10 cach (unsecured) o 3) 1212 1202
L2 (3] March 2023 - 1,904,274y of INR. 10 each (unsccured) (noaz 3 1904 17
HER 125 (3] March 2023 - AKE, 1 25) of (MR 10 cach funsconrd} (ngte 37 EE] FET
15.680.400 (3| March 2023 - 13,630,400} of MR 10 coch (wnsccwred) inolc 43 156 Bl 136 B0
376,740 (3 1 March 2023 - 826,700 of INR 10 cach (unscourcd) (nok: 4) R 877
1. 493,000 {3 1 March 2023 - 1 4950000 of MR 141 cach (unscoured) (nove 53 1195 1494
SBi64 B 64

| FCCDs of INR 143 cach hay ing 2 coupon ratc of SBI bass iz plus 300 base pomi per annum were allolicd on 6 Apnl 2007 1 Asiva Asset Management Cayman Tid. 6.3 FOCDs sholl get sonverted ime | equity shaee of INR 10
cach befors 10 1ears from the dote of ssue. These FCCDs's do not carmy any intercst il the repmment of 1t loares from the banks and Mnancial insvinstion and accordingly no interst is aotrned on theee FCCDs's 6l 31 March
2024 These FOCDes's mere d by Asiza Assel M, {Caymrn} Limited 10 ACIC Mouritiue | on 29 December 2008 and then o SAMHI Houcls Limited an 10 Augutt 2023 wilh same ierms and conduions

a

FCCDs of INE. 10 each having a coupon raie of SBI Bace raie plus 3041 basis poiis per annum were alloned on 22 Ociober 2008, 22 Nevember 2012, 31 Docember 2018, 3 Februan 2019 and b March 2019 6.2 FCCDs shall got

comvencd into 1 oquity share of TNR 15 cach on manurity on or befare 30 Seprember 2028, These FCCDs s do nod carry amy inlerest tikh the repayment of wim loans from the banks and financial institution and aocordingly ne inerest

is pecrued on these FOCDs's 1ill 31 March 2024 then ta SAMHI Howcls Limited on 10 August 2023 wilh same terms md condilions

3 FCCDs of INR 10 cach baving o coupon rade of SBI Basc rate plus 200 basis poinis per oonwm worc alloded gn 13 May 2019, 23 June 2019 1 Oetober 2009, 30 Docember 2017 and 3 February 2020, 6 2 FCCDs shall g
comvericd mia | equity shar: of TME. 17 cach on maturity on or befors 30 Sepicmber 2026 These FCCDs's da not camy any interest Lill the repaymen of tenm loans from the banks and fmameaal instingion and accordingly no interest
15 acerued on these FCODs's 1l 31 March 2024 (hen 1o SAMHL Hoizls Limited oo 10 Augurst 2023 wilh same i and conditions

4 FOCDs of (MR 10 each having a coupon rae of SBI Base rae phus 300 basis poinis per anmum were alkaied on | Ochober 2020 and 18 Nosember 2020 62 FCCDs shall gel converied inw | equity share of TNR 10 cach on
malarity oo o bekse 3 Seplember 2028 These FOCDs s do not carry any inlerest il the repayment of lerm boans [rom the banks and financial instiution and aceordingly no increst is acerued on these FCODs's oill 31 March 2024
then to SAMHI Holels Limitcd on 10 August 2023 with same lerms and conditions

i FCCDs of INR 1) cach having a covpon raie of SBI Basc raic plus 300 bosis poinis per annum were allotied ou & October 2021 6.2 FOCDs shall get com ened inte | equity share of TR 10 cach an matuniy an or belare 30

Septamber 2028 These FCCDs's do not camy any inkarest till the ropayment of lem foans freomt th: banks and financinl instinion and accordingly ne imercst is acerued on these FCCDs 1ill 31 tanch 2024 then w SAMHI Hotels

Limited on 10 Aupust 202 with same wrme and conditions




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited
CIN:USS101HR2010FTC046877

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Af! amornts are in INR millions, unless otherwise stated}

I8  Other equity

Securities premium
Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company
Retained earnings

a) Securities premium

Balance at the beginning of the year
Add : Additions made during the year
Balance at the end of the year

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

308.38 308.38
06.88 85.28
{1,154.08) (1,111.05)
(748.82) (717.39)

As at As at

31 March 2024

308.38

31 March 2023

308.38

308.38

308.38

Securities premium is used to record the premium received on issue of shares. Tt is utilized n accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act, 2013,

b} Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions during the year
Repayment during the year

Balance at the end of the year

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

The company had obtained inter-corporate loans from its fellow subsidiaries. Since, these loans are interest free loans and also
repayable at the option of the borrower, hence these loans have been recognized as a capital contribution on behalf of the parent

company.

¢} Retained earnings

Balance at the beginning of the year
Loss for the year

Transferred From retained earnings
Other adjustment

Balance at the end of the year

Retained earnings represent the amount of accumulated losses of the Company
d) Other comprehensive income

Balance at the beginning of the year

Remeasurernents of defined benefit iability {net of tax)

Transferred to retained earnings

Balance at the end of the year

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability comprises actuarial gains and losses.

Q~& CQ
ol ¢
M )

+

8528 54.23

12.10 31.05

(0.50) -

96.88 85.24
As at As at

31 March 2024

3 March 2023

(1,111.0%) (1,027.01)

(43.26) (84,59

0.23 0.13

- 042

(1,154.08) (1,11%.05)
As at As at

31 March 2024

0.23
(0.23)

31 March 2023

0.13
{0.13)
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Pt Indis Holels [Chennai OMR) Private Limied
CIN:USES [0 | HRILOFTOMEETT

Notes lo the Rnunclal starements for the Year ended 30 March 2024
8 uctner ave im TR anditonn. sndex pifuse woted?
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MNom current provisisns Al Adal
3 March 2024 31 Murch 2033
Provasue fr eroplvy ee buodils
Gratwry (Reler note 29 01 3%
Congensared abaemoes (IReRr aoe 2% 047 1k
[ L&
Curreal financial liahilities - Borromings Ak at Asal
rSeenred) 31 March 2024 31 March 2083
Vyverdralt aeiliwes romm bank {sceureds * el 998
Clrrent matursiics of langelerm homowings (Refer noe 19) 14 {63
i meecured)
Tracrcomesrate boan from reled paries @ M H -
1148 1463
®lrelwdes inleresl werized ammming o EHE 067 030 Mardk 2003 < TNR 0 63
# mecluded iereat acerued on boan (MR |44 (31 bMarch 2023 NI Baly
Cash crelit and overdraf facifity from banka ]
Sunclinned Amviand Interest rate charsed per annim
R Ti detull
Endlein (VR Millinna) 31 March 2024 31 March 2123 E e Seckriey detall
Tndusind Pank T nnucd 1non & 254 O | Hepayable o demand | Sanse a2 monasueed an Mode 19
Incurporate borsumings from related parties
Lanan amiumt as on Interest pale charged per annam
Panticulurs 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 303 Repuysmen Tertns
et Incha Hotcds {Punc) Prcae 3280 11 560t NA| Repayable within 12 months from the date of
Larmied
et Tode 1Ty 4 0 Tydieraband) Trivane FI 11 5t A
Lamunl
Current Miratdal labibies - Trade pavables A al As ul
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Duwet lndia Hodels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited
CIN:USS10LHR2010FTCO468T7

Notes to the fimancial seatements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amesints are i INR millions, uess otherwise stated)

15

P

13

»

Revenue from operatiens

Sale of services

-Room revenue

- Food and beverage revenue

- Recreation and olber services

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
12379 11983
262 23 86
146% 1.493
151140 145.12

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is recopnized when the perfonnance obligation is over! services

defiversd Ad Il s T ised when p is received before the related performance igfied. This includes ad d from the
Is rooms / { bang Revenus is recognised once the performance obligation is met i ¢ on room siay/ sale of food and beverage / provision of banquel services
Excess of revenue gver invoicing is recorded as unbilled of Profit and Loss is same as the contracted price
As at As al
Contract Liabilities 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

- Advance from cusiomers

005

o

The amouni of revenue INR 0 05 (31 March 2023 TNR Q 71) recognised in the reporting perrod was included in the advance from customers balance at the beginming of the periad

Trade recervables

Mote: Considening 1he namire of business of the Company, the above trade receivables is comverted into cash within the same operating cycle

Other income

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
- an bank deposits

Qovernment grant (refier nowe 423

Provision no |onger required wrilken back

Miscellaneous income

Cost of materials consumed

Consumptien of feed and heverages
Inventory at the beginming of the year
Add : Purchases during the year
Inventory at the end of the year

Employee bemefils expenses

Salaries, wages and bonus

Contribution to providertt fund and odier funds (refer "2’ below}
Conpensated absences (refer 'b’ below)

StafT welfare expenses

2. Delived contribuiion plans

1291 1025
For the year ended For the year ended
3i March 2024 31 March 2023
126 105
411 -
440 469
010 088
10.07 662
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 3023
022 032
721 Ta6
- {0.23)
7.43 A [
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
26 16 14 04
1.6% 139
024 054
$91 397
3100 34.94

The Company makes coninbuolions, determined as a ified p

Employees’ Stat¢ Insurance, which are defined conmbution plans. The Company has no obligations other than to make the specified ibubions. The cantrik

prafit or loss as they accrue The amount ised as an exp
aggregated to MR | 6% (31 March 2023 - INR. 1 39

b. Compensated absences (other than long term employee benefits)
The principal ptions used in d ing the obligation are as given below

Particulars

Discounting rale p a

Salary erowth raie p

Refer note below For monaliry assumptions

salanies, in respect of qualifying employees owards Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and

As at

31 March 2024
T 15%
1000%

are charged to

Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Employees' Stae Insurance for the year

As at

31 March 2023
73%%
10 00%



Duet India Hotels {Chenmai OME) Private Limited

CIN:US3101 HR2010FTC04657T

Notes to the fimanclal statements for the year emted 31 March 2024
(Al amounts are in INR puilions, undess othervise siated)

<. Defined Bemefit Plan

Gratuity
The Company has a defined benefit gramiry plan. Every employes who has completed five vears or more of service gets a gratuity on departare at 15 days salary {last deawn salary)
for each completed year of service &s per Payment of Grawiry Ace 1972 The schemne is not funded

These plans rypically expose the Company 1o acwarial risks such as invastment risk, inherent interest rate risk , langevity risk and salary rigk

Tnvestment risk
The present value of the defined beneht plan liability {denominared in Ingian Rupes} is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to markey yields at the end

of the reporting period on go bonds

Interest rare risk

The defined benefin obligad lculated uses a di rate based an government bonds T bond yields fall, the defined benefic obligation will tend 1o increase

Longeviry risk

The prazent value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by refe to the best est of the lity of plan participants both during and afier their employmenl. An

in the life exp y of the plan partcipants will increase the plan's liability

Salary risk
Higher than expected increases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligaian

The following tables ies the comp of net benefit expense recognized in profit or loss and amounts recognized in the Balance Sheet for the said plan;
i) The principal assumptions used in delermining the pratuity bemefic obligation are as given below
As st As at
Particulars 31 March 2014 31 March 2023
e %
Discounting rate p.a TS 139
Salary growth rate p a 10.00 10.00
Relirement age (in years) 60 )
Withdrawal rates: age related and past experiewce E Yo
Age
Up te 30 Years 12 15
From M to 44 years 72 [E
Above 44 years T2 0
Mortality rates inclusive of provision for disability 100% of TALM (2012- 10655 of JALM (2012-
2014} 2014)

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes sceount of inflation, senioriry, promotion and oiher relevan factors, such as supply and demand. in
the employment market

i) Change in present vatue of benefly obligatien

For the year ended For the year ewded
Particolars 31 Mareh 1024 31 March 2023
Present value of abligation as at the beginning of the year 058 048
Current service cost 005 L)
Interest cost 004 004
Acruartal {gainVlois (L1 (0. 18)
Benefits paid (027 -
Presemt value of abligation as at the end of (he year 17 0.53




Duet India Hodels (Chenmai OMR) Private Limied
CIN:USS 101 HR2OL0FTC 46877

Motes te the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amous are i INR millions, widess otherwise stared)

iii) Amounis te be recogmized in Balance Sheet
Farticulars

Present value of the defined benefit obligaton at the end of the year
Fair value of plan asseis ar the end of the year
Net Kability recopnized in the Balance Sheet

Mon-current
Currem

i) Expemse recogmised in Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars

Current service cost

Tnterest cost

Totsl T ksed in the S

of Profit and Lass

vi R T ized directy in other comprehensive income

Particulars

- changes in demographic assumptions

- changes in financial assumptions

- changes in experi ij

Ampunt recognized in other comprehensive imcome

vi) The Company best esu of exp for the next year is INR 0 07, (31 March 2023 - INR 0 44 )

Sensitivily anabysis

R bly possible ch at the reponing date o one of the
defined benefis obligation by the amounts shown below

Di rale (0 5% ]
Future salary growth (0 5% movement)

Di rate (0 3% ]
Salary arowth rale (0 5% movement)

As al
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

a7 053
0.17) 10.58)
074 058
a03 -
For the year emded For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
003 024
004 0.04
0.09 0.1%
For the year emded For the year emded

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the

The sensitiviry analyses above have been delermined based on a method than extrapolates the impact on defined benefin obligation as a resulr of reasonable changes in key

assumplions occurring at the end of the year

Sensitivilies due to morality and withdrawals rate are not ial and hence tmpact of change not calculared

* Positive amount represents increase in provision
*Megalive amount represents decrease in provision

(Weighted average duration of defined benefiy obligation is | 05 years (31 March 2023 5 76 years)

¥ due

and lity are not material and hence not disclosed
There was no change in the method and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivicy analysis from prior years

The following payments are expected comtributions to the defimed benefit plan in future years:

Year

0101 Year

1102 Year

210} Year

3104 Year

4o 5 Year

506 Year

More than ¢ Year

002 -
a0l -

{0.26) {0.18)

{0.23) {0.18)

31 March 2024
Imcrease * Decrease "
wan 001
0l {001
31 March 1023
Imcreass * Decrease *
{0 02) 0402
002 (002}
Faor the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 51 March 2023
¢tol -
008 0a?
naz 647
aal 006
- 008
- Q05

005 0237
017 .58




Dt India Hotdds {Chennad OBR) Privaie Limited

CIN:USS 101 HRIMWOFT CO6877

Netes o the (imancisl siatements for the year eaded 31 March 2024
(AR amounts are m MR mdtfores, sinless otheruise stoed)

an

Ll

Er

Fimance costs For the yeur ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Trieres expense on [nancial Nabilines carricd at amorised cosl

- Loans from bank 4703 £l 2%

+ Qthexs 025 -

- Laoum [rom Gellow subsidiany 160 -
Fnterest cosl on gotcrmmenl gram (rofer ol 41} D40 1329
Quher finance costs 036 1.56

6 T
Deprecistion and amnrtisation exprase Far the yoar tuded Far the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Depreiaion of properry. plan and equipment frefer nore 1) 2597 nn
Amorigation of intmpible asseis frofer nole 4 41 117

2640 by RT3

=
Other copomses Far the year coded Far (ke vear onded
31 March 2024 31 Maxch 2023

Consumpiion of siores and supples 758 793
Rawcs and awes 157 00
Birand, license and morkeling focs 26 30 2535
Insurance 144 121
Power, fucl and walcr 1694 L7 03
Frinting and suanonery 100 00y
Communication I 60 145
Travelling and ¢onveyanee 2 k]
Menogemen and incenive fees 3¢ 120
Legal and prodessionad fees 107 702
Fxvment lo suditars * 148 33
Repair and mainlcnance
- Buikding 0699 134
- Machincr 400 300
- Others an 173
Cemractual Yaboor I &4 118
Sccority sorvices 149 Lz
Loss on loreign ¢xchangs Muciualion tnci) D08 138
Provision for bad and doubuul debis 43 L)
Miszelineous expentes 131 {1
Loss on dispesal of property . plant amd ¢quipment [ -

8394 Aa To
*Fayment io suditors jexchudisg Lases)
As Suditors

Siatuiwy andi 128 §1)

Reimbursemen of expenses 0l ng?

Dither senaces a3 360

LA6 in
Earmingsfiless) per share (EPS)
Fur ke vear eaded For the yeur ended
31 March 2024 N March 2023
Met loss attriburable ko cquiny sharcholders [43 351 13450
Weizhied sverape number of cquey shares oustanding, duning the vear for caleulation of basic EPS 63,519,939 13.806,72%
‘Weighted mverage oumber of equiny shores oulsianding during the vear for cllcolanon of dilowed EPS* H1519.959 13,806 789
Mommal vahoe of eqoity share (INR) 10 m
Basic camingsibozs) por share (INR) {0 &9} 16 13)
Diluted comings/lass) per shar (TNR) 1069 1613
Fur the yuar cnded For the yoar cuded
31 Murch 2024 31 March M35
Reconcilionon of' net profititlags) auributshle o cquity sharcholders (basic camings per share)
et loss afler urs as per Stolement of profit and Joss [43 261 T8 39y
Mei loss aitnbutable 19 cquiry sharchobders (43.26) {h4.5%)
Caloulatinn of weighied average number af shares far hasic and diluted carnings per share (s the Fear ended M March 2024
Mumber Waghicd Average
Equay Shanes 4433473 1437473
Insiruments entirghy equity in saeuee
Fully pukson cooverubls dek SR A6 38 k64 A
§2.519,930 62,519,93%
——
Calculation wi weighted axcrape number of shames Der basic and déuwed caendaes per share for the year endod 31 Marh 2023
Mum ber Weighied Averag:
Equiry Shares 4455473 1455472
Instruments entirch cquily in naure
Fulh kory converubke del 0331314 2351504
L3206, T80 13,906,782

* The puistanding pricndial cquity shares b an anu-dilutive eeet an EPS. Hence, the same have nor been congidered for caloulation of diluwed lods per share

2.8 C
=)
0

*

o
»




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Private Limited
CIN:USS101HR2010FTCO46877

Notes to the inancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(4] amounts are in INR millions, 1mless otherwise stated)

34 Contingent liabilities and commitments
fio the extent not provided for)
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

a} Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, - -
and not provided for

b) Contingent liabilities

During the year 2018-19, the Company had received a Show cause notice from a Land Acquisition Officer under Tamil Nadu Acquisition of
Land for Industrial Purpose Act, 1997 for acquisition of a smail portion of land admeasuring 298 sq mtr in the hotel property owned by the
Company. The Company was asked to submit reasons as to why the proposed [and should not be acquired by the Authority. The Company,
replied to the above notice by objecting to the proposed land acquisition along with reasons thereof. There has been no response from the
authority thereafier and the management believes that no further adjustment is required in the financial statements in this regard.

35 Operating Segmenis

The Holding Company’s Chief Executive Officer has been identitied as the Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM") w.e f 10 August 2023,
since he is responsible for all major decisions w.r.t the preparation and execution of business plan, preparation of budget, planning, alliance,
merger, acquisition and expansion of any new facility, Till 10 August 2023, the Directors were identified as CODM. CODM has examimned
the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business segment 1.¢. "Developing and
cunning of hotels", hence no specific disclosures have been made

A. Information about producis and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely "Developing and running of hotels”. therefore product wase revenue disclosure is not
applicable

B. Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services to customers in India. Further, there are no nan-current assets located outside India

C. Information about major costomers (from external customers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to L0 per cent or more of the entity’s revenue




Duet India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privare Limited
CIN:USS10IHR2010F FC 046877

Notes to the fnancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(A ampimis are i INR sullrons, undess orherwrse siafed)

36 Relaved party disclosures

a) Related party amd majore of velated party reladbonship wisere conirol exisis

Deseriprion of relationship

Mame of the Party

Ulimate holding compans

Asiva Capila) Investments Company, KS C P_iill 10 Angust 2023)

Holding Company

ACIC Mauriius 1 (il 19 Augost 2023)

Enuny hoving significam influsnce

ACIC Maurinius 2 (il 19 August 2023)

Holding Company

SAMHI Hotels Limited iw e [ 10 August 20233

b) Other related pavties with whem transactions have taken place

Description of relationship

Wariie of the Parry

Fellow Subsidiary

Duet tndia Hodels { Abmedabad) Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

Duet India Hedels (Chennarl Privave Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

Duet India Hedels (Hyderabad) Private Limned

Fellow Subsidiary

Dust India Hotels (Navi Mumba} Povate Limuad

Fellow Subsidiary

Duet India Hodels {Puned Pnvate Limited

Fellow Subsidizry

Duet India Hetels (Jaipur Pnvue Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

ACIC Aduison: Privaie Limited

< Rekated parry dorimg the current fprevisns year

Particlars

Holding Company

Fellaw Subsidiary

31 March 2024 31 March 2023 Al March 2024

3t March 2023

Capital comtribugion on behall of e parent company received

Duet India Hotels {Pune} Priv ate Limared

5 - 250

14 23

Duet India Hotels {Hy derabad) Prvate Limited

- - .04}

1030

Duet Indiz Hotels {faipur) Prvate Limiled

6 4%

Capital comtribution on behalf of the parent company repaid

Dreel Indiz Helels (Navi Mumnbai Privale Limited

Management fees exy

ACIC Advizory Privae Limied

120

Legal & Professional fees

ACIC Advisory Prnate Limied

[Shart-term horrowinzs taken during the year

Druet lndia Holels (Punel Prvate Limited

Duet India Hoels (Hy derabad) Privane Limmted

|Imterest accrued on inercarparate Joan fram related paries

Duei India Hotels (Punel Privale Limited

Duei [ndia Hotels (Hyderabad) Privace Limited

Trade payables

Duel India Holels (Fune) Frivale Limited

Advance (s vendar

ACIC Advisory Privane Limited

- - [ ]

Other receivables

Duel ndia Hotels (Chennaid Private Litnued

Reimbursernent of Expense puid

5AMHI Hotels Limuied

Reinbursenment of Expense received

5AMHI Holels Limiied

U6 . =

Short term loans and advances*
Duel India Hotels { Ahmedobad) Privale Limited

0 36

d1




Dwet India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited

CIN:USS HIHRMIOFTCMESTT

™odes 1o thee fingmeial statermends for thee year ended 31 March 2024
{Al amonnts are i INR methions. wnless ourwise stated)

d} Related party balances au 2t year end

Particlars | Holding Company. Fellow Subsidiary
31 March 2024 31 March 1023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Capital contribution on hehalf of the parent company repaid

Duel India Hotels (Punel Pnvate Limoed - - 63 K4 1,39
Duet India Hotels (Navi M J Povase Lirmied - - 4.00 450
Duuet [ndia Hotels (Hy derabad) Prvate Limited - - 2229 12 6%
Dauet [ndia Horels {Jaipur) Privaie Limiled - - 670 &30

|Intrumewts entively equity im natwre (Fully Compalsory Convertible Debemiures (FCCDs)
itius |

ACIC M,
SAMHI Holels Limited 3B G4 - - =

Diher receivables
Druen india Hotels {Chennau) Privawe Limuted - - 2 1% 243
Druet India Hatels {Punel Povaie Limied - - - -

|Short-term b ings (including accrued imterest)
Duet India Hatels (Punel Potate Limied - - 20y -
Duel india Hotels (Hy derabad} Prvace Limited - - 34 1 -

Trade payables
Duel {ndia Hotels (Pune) Pnvate Limited - - 264 -

ACIC Advison Private Limited - - 335 4n2

*Shortierm loans and advances includes acerued inleresi recelyable
As 01 31 March 2023, Asiya Capital Investrments Company. Kuwail (the Ultimale Holding company Wil 11 Augost 2023). has given corporate puaraniee (o Lhe lenders of the Company against a

bomaming lacility raken by the Company and s fellow subsidiary P The P of die ul halding pany is INR. 250 00
In addivon to the i ioned above:
a) There is 2 secunity by wav' of crass collateralisanon of cash Mews ofemed by the Company in respeci ol borrowings obiaved by i Rellow subsidianies fram banks

b) Duel India Holels { Pune) Private Limiled has provided fi<ed deposit For a aggrecate amount of TNR 230 00 {plus capitaliced interest) 1o Indusind Bank as fien




Duct India Hitels iICwennal OME) Privaie Limited
CIN:USZI0THR 201 9F TCHESTT

Notes 1o e Gnancial siatements for the year ended 30 March 2024
(AN apinunrs are v INH nutlions, unless otheraise sialed)

37 Financial instrumens - Fair values amd risk management

A) Fmancizl incivuments by category and Mabe value

The below wmble ires the jod and el mage w d g, the fair values of de financial insruments tat are () recognised and measured o far vahue and (b) measured 0 amonizsed
cost and For which fair values are disclosed in the financia) statcmenis To provide an mdication about the reliability of the inputs vsed in dewermining fair valuc. the Company has <lassified is fnancial
mstromenis into the tiee kevels prescribed under the accouming sumdard

31 March 2024
Pariiculars Level of Hicrarchy Fair Value Through Fadr Vatue Thraugh Ol Aminreised Cost
Profit and Loss (FYTPL) Comprehensive focome
IFYTOCH
Financial asteis
Non-cwrrent
Qe financial assels - - 3154
Current
Trade receivables - - 12491
Cash and cash cquivalenis . - 104
Ouher financial aseels - - n&7
Tutal fnancia) assets - - 1636
Financial liah
Non-curcem
Borrow ings Level 2 - - 45538
Currgng
Borrow ings Level & - - 47 A%
Tradc pavables - - 3318
Ciwher Mmancial liabilnics - - 16 15
Total financial lahilitics - B 58310
31 March 5923
Particelarsy Level of Hicrarchy Fair ¥alue Through Fair Value Thraugh Other Amariised Cost
Profit and Loss {FYTPL) LComprebensive Income
(FVTOCT)
Financial assets
Nan-gurrent
Other financial assels - - 135
Current
Trade receivabhes - - 1025
Lagh and cash euivalenis - - 1597
‘Qher financial asses - - all
Tutul linancial asscts - - J668
Finamcial hubilitics
Niri-curmeni
Bormowinas Level 2 - - AR 14}
Curreni
Bormow ings Level 2 - - 1063
Trode pavables - - 440
Cnher fimancial lisbalines - - 1627
Total finanwial liabilics - - 514

Tlke management assegsed thay the (i value of cash and cash cquivalents. ather bank balances. wade receivables, scconily deposits. margm money deposits. onbilled revenue. irade and other payabics and
other current financial astels and habikiics sppréxmate thewr cam me amounis largely due 1o the shorl s of these

Inicresd rates on MOR-Current borrowings (horeowings from bankz) are cquinalend (o the market rate. Such borrow ings are a1 Noating rawes which arc resel i short iMerals. Accordingly. the carng saluc
of such borrowmgs approvomancs fair value

Fair valuanan af nan-corrent financial asseis and habiliogs has been disclosed 1o be same as carrying vahue as here 18 no significant duTerence bemneen camying value and e value

Tht tompom has oot done am. hedging iransoctions during the 1car

Bp Measuremend of fwir values

There are no wanshr benween Level | Level 2 and Level 3 durng ihe vear

C. Fmunchal risk manasemen .

The Company s activies expose w10 2 aricly of Gnancial risks. marken risk including forcign exclange risk and smierest rae risky. credi sk and lguiday nsk

The Holding Company's Chel’ Financial Officer under the directions af the board of direciars impl fnaneial nsk pobicics acrass the Compamy  The Company s sk management

policics are establigiied 1o identify ond analyse the risks faced by due Company., w sl appeopriane risk limi and conirols. 10 monitor ritks and adberence Lo timils @ order to minimize the fnancal mpscl
of such risks The nisk management policies and svstems are reeweed repulaeh b refloot changes in markel condivons and the Compans s aclivines
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amonnis are in INR milliony, unders ivhenrise stoted)

E Market risk
Market risk 15 the nizk that the changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and mnterest rates, that wall affect the Company's expense or the value of its holdings of financial
nstruments The objective of market rsk management is to manage and conirol market nisk exposures within acceptable parameters, while opumising the return

a. Intevest rate risk

Interest rate risk 1s the nisk that the fair value or future cash fows of a financral mstrument will fluctuate because of changes wn market imerest rates The Company's exposure to the risk
of changes n marke) iterest rates relates primarily to the Comparty's borrowings obligations with floating interest rates

The Company evaluates the interest rates 1n the market on regular basis to explore the option of refinancing of the borrowings of the Company Moreover, majonity of the Company's
borrowings are pnmarnly linked to Mloating interest rates, thereby resulung o the adjustments of its borrowing costs i hine with the market imerest

Exposure to nterest rate risk
The following table demonsirates the sensivity to a reasonably possible change 1n terest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected With all other vanables held constant,
the Company's profit before tax 1s affected through the impact on loanng rate borrowings, as follows

Particulars [ncreasel decrease  Effect on profit
in basis points {loss} before tax

31 March 2024

Term laans from banks and linancial mstitutions 1 00bp 499

Term loans from banks and financial nsbuhions ~10Gbp 199

31 March 2023

Term loans from banks and finaneial mstitutions 100bp 4 9%)

Term loans from banks and finaneial instiiutigns ~100bp 496

The assumed movement in basts peints for the imerest rate sensitivity analysis 15 based on (he currently observable market environment, showing 2 significantly higher volatthty than m

b.Currency risk

Currency nisk for the Company 1s the nsk that the future cash outflows on account of payables for management fees and other expenditure will fluctuare because of changes m foreign
exchange rates The Company 15 exposed 10 the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing foreign cumency exchange rates on its financial position and cash Aows Exposure anses pnmarily
due to exchange raie fluctuanons between the functional currency and other curencies The Management evaluates Forergn exchange rate exposure ansing from foreign currency
transections on penodic basis and Follaws appropriate risk management policies

Exposure to currency risk

The Company's exposure to faraign currency risk at the end of the reporting period are as follows

3t March 2034 Currency Amount in foreign  Amourt in INR (in
curveny [(in millions)
miltions)
Trade payables usD 004 359
31 March 2023
Currency Amonwt in foreign  Amount in INR (in
curreny {in milligng)
wmillions)
Trade payahles LUsD 005 4 80
Chapge in Effect on pralit
USD rate (loss) before tax
31 March 2024 [00bp (0 0y
-100bp 004
31 March 2023 100bp 10 03)
-1bp 003

2. Credit risk
Credit risk 15 the nisk of financial loss to the Company 1 a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument Farls to meel its contractual obligations The carrymg amount of financial
asseLs represent the maximum credit Nsk exposure The Company has credin policies m place and the exposures 1 these credit Fisks are monitored on an ongomg basis

The Company s policy 1s to place cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances with banks and financial institunon counterparties with good creditrating
The Company has wiven secunity deposits to various stamtory authorities and to vendors for secunng services from them and rental deposns for emploves accommodations  Further, the
Company has other recervable balances outstanding as at year end from vendors agamst cost rewmbursement The Company does nol expect any defauit Irom these parues and

accordimyly the nisk af default 1s neghgible or mil

in respect of credst exposures from trade receivabies, the Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer 1s analysed individually (or crediuworhiness berore
entenng mto contract Credit limits are established for each customer, reviewed regularly and any sales exceediny those limuts require approval from the appropniate authority

The Company ¢stablishes an allowance for imparment that represents its expecied credi losses in respect of wrade receivables The management uses a simplified approach for the
purpase of computanon of expected credit foss for wrade recervables In monioring customer credit risk. customers are grouped according to thewr credin charactenstics. Including

whether they are an individual or legal enuty. therr geographucal locanen, indusiry and existence of previous financial difficulties, 1 any

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company

The Company considers a financial asset w be i default when
+ the debrar 13 unbikely 1 pay its credin oblyganons to the Growp o full, or
+ the financial asset 13 more than two years past due

The provision matrts used For determiming loss allowance on rade receivables as at 35 Warch 2023 15 0-130 davs | 60%, |80-363 days $ 4%, 366-347 days 3+ 15%. 348-729 davs




Pruet India Hotels (Chemnai OMR) Private Limited

CIN: 55101 HR2010F TC 046877

MNotes to the finamcial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amownts are in INR miflions, unless otherwise stated)

Reconctliation of 1oas allowance provision

For the year ewded For the year ended

Trade receivables 3 March 2024 31 March 2023
Opening balance 073 0350
Change in loss allowance 084 023
Closing balance 1.57 073
3. Liquidity risk

Liguidiry risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in mesting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are seitled by delivering cash or another
finaneial asser. The Compary’s approach to managing liquidity is o ensure, s far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meel its liabilities when they are due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurming unacceptable losses or risking damage to Company's reputation

5 rolling fi of the Company’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows 1o ensure it has sufficient cash 1o meet
opera.nonal needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Company™s debi refinancing plans, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and covenant comphance

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established an appropriate liquidity nisk af t fi ik for the of
the Company’s short-lerm, medium term and long-1erm funding and liquidiry management requirements

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities a1 the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted:

Contractual cash Nows

31 March 2024 Carrying smount Taotal Gio 1 year I to2 years 2to S years >3 years
Noa - derivative financial liabilities
Non-current barrowings 48799 494 95 - e | 199.01 26673
Current borrowings 4788 47 88 4788 - E =
Current Trade payables 3318 3318 3318 . . -
Other cwrrent financial Laklities 1615 1675 1675 - :

585.80 592.76 97581 29.21 19%.01 266,73

Contractaal cash flows

31 March 2023 Carrying amount Tatal Dtol year 1¢02 years 2to S years > 5 years
Nom-derivative financial liabifities

Non-cwTent borrowings 484 75 498 22 - 065 15215 34542
Current borrowings 998 993 298 + = =
Trade payables 40,40 40.40 4040 - =

Other current financial liabilities 1627 1627 1627 =

551.40 564.87 66,65 0.65 152.15 34542




Dued India Holels (Chennai OMR) Privaie Landled
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Nates to the fmancial statements for the year ended J1 March 2024
{4 amannis are et INR miliions, wiless otferwise tiated)

38 Capital management

fidenee and o sustain filure devcl of the busincss

The Company s policy is 10 mainlain a sirong capital base so as Lo maintain insestor. credilor and marken

The Board of Directors of the Holding company secks to maintain a belance botween Lhe higher relums Ut might be possibk wilh higher Ievels of borrowing and the advantages and soeurily alforded by & sound capital
position The Compams monitors capital using loan o value (LTV) methed 1o ensure thal the loan 1o+ alee docs nol increase besond 65% on any given reponting date at Group fevel Loan inchades the cunrend and non-
current bomrawings and Walue rofers 1o e market capitalisation of the Giroup

The Company is mot subject 10 extemally imposed capital requirensents
As 0 part of s capito) management policy. the Compam did not have any defaults in the repmment of loans and micrest for the cwrenl vear. The ban £on cnants have bean tested for Duct India Hotels {Hyderabad)

Privawe Limited. Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited. Docl India Hotels {Jaipur) Prisate Limited. Duet India Hotels (Punc) Private Limited, Dt India Howels (Chermai OMR) Private Limited, Duel India Houels
(Ahmedabad) Privale Limited on consolidaicd basis and there have o no loan covenant defaulls during Lhe current + car and there has been no itimation (rom the bank for recalling any Joan Fcility

3 Disclosures under Micro, Small and Medium Enerprises Develop Act, 2006 (MSMED) As at Asal
3t March 2024 3 March 1023
Dpes 1o micey, small and medium suppliers
The smounds remaining wnpaid o micre md small supplicrs os el he ond of the 1ear
Principal 1.60 130
Imzrest . .
The amourd of inicrest paid by Lhe buyor a5 per the Micre Small and Mediom Enlarprises Deselopment Aot 2006 {(MSMED Acl. 2006} - -
The omounts of the pavments made 1o micre and small supplicrs bevond the appoinied day durning cach accouning yeor -
The amount of interest due and payable for the seor of delay in making pasmen {which have been paid bul besond the appointed
dzv duning the xear} but without sdding the intereat speeificd wnder MSMED Act, 2004
The ameund of inlerest accrued and recaining unpaid ol the end of cach aceounling s ear
The amount of further interest remoining duc and pa able cvon in the succeeding, vears, util such daic when the interest ducs as
abowe are actually paid to the small anterpse for the purpose of disalkow ance s 2 deductible cxpendiure under Scction 33 of e -
MEMED AcL 2006
The has identificd T which have provwded goods and services 1o the Compam: and which quabify under the definivon of micre and small enterpnses, as defined under Micro, Smoll and Medium

Entarprises Des clopment Act, 2006 (MSMED) Acoordingl . (he disclosure in respeet of (he amounts pay able Lo soch eilerprises a5 a1 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 hos been mode i the linancial statcments bosod
on infarmation received and av oilable with the Compom

H New dards and inlerp ions, mat yel adopted
Minisiry of corporste affairs { MCA™) notifies new standard ar amendmenls Lo Lhe exisling dards under C
2024, MCA has not natified any new sandacds or amendmenls Lo the cxisting stendords applicable 1o the Compam

{Indian A ing Siandards) Rules as sssued (rom lime 1o lime For Uhe veor ended 31 March

4l Ratios as required by Schedule 1H to the Companies Act, 2013:

EH

Ratio In times/%% Numerator Benominator 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2023 |Increase/ (decrense) %

(a) Current Batio In times Total Cumrent Assels Tatal Current Liabiliies LR 03y -15%

{b) Debi-Equiry Ratio In tines Taolal Bomowings Total Equity {4.31) (537 20
Eamings befare finance costs, Finance costs paid + Pnncipal

(e Debt Service Coveroge Rang | In times |depreciotion and amortisation and | repavmenis al long term 07z [REG | 66%
Lax (and other adjusumenis) barrovings

{d} Return on Equity Radio In %2 Profi Loss) for Lhe vear Average Tolal Equin 440 {120 131%

{0) Trade Recoinablos WM |in s Revemue from operations Average Trade Recoivables 1305 1671 .23%

() Trade pav ables tumoser ralio |l Limes Purchases + Other expenses Average Trade Fayobles 248 264 6%

{e) Net cagital wrmes of ranie In Limes Revenue from operations Average working capital (L 98) n = [t

(h) Met profit ratie In % Frofit Loss} for the scor Revenie rom operations (] {0 59) 5%

. . Earmingsi Lossce) before inlerest and| Capital Emplosed : Tangible Mot -
11} Rotum on Copital emploacd  |In% lases Watth * Toisl Borrowin a0z {003) 152%

The Compam. has nol presenled the follon ing ratios duc o the reasons given bolow;

{1} Imentory twmes er ratio: Since the prop

of such |

novalec s

1o vl assels

(2) Return on invcaiments Since Lhe Company im ests surplus temporary funds in shon-werm bank deposits and the incomz gencrawcd from il s msigmificant 1o tolal reyonuc

Explanations 10 varianes in Ratios:

Curem Raio
[Drchl-Equit: Ratio

Simes the saniance is kess than 23% ther: is no

1o disclogs e reagon

Since the vonance is kess than 23% there i< no requircnent 1o disclose Lhe reason

Dbl Serviee Coxcrage Ratio and Lax and

Variance is primaribe on account of increase in carmings before finance costs. depreciation and ding decreose i debt povment.

principal and imterest as compared 10 the presicus » dor

Return on Equily Ratio Vanamee is ih on accound of decrease in net logs duning the +car 25 compared 1o (he presy ous s car

Trade Roocivables Lumorer rotio |Simes the canance ks kess than 25%; Lhers i3 no requiremiani 19 dis¢lose the reason

Trade Pavable Turnover Ravo | Sinoe the sariance is bkess than 25% there is no 10 disclase Lhe reason

Mt copita! wmpa er ratia Variance is h on pccount of Increase in ey gt from and ¢ dine deercase in acraee working capual as d 1o the pres ious s ear
Mot profil ratio Vaname is h on accotnd of docrease in (nance cost durine Lhe ycar s d 1o Lhe pres vus & car
Returm on Capital emploved Variancs 1§ Iy on account of incease in camings before finance cosis. dey anel and tax as 1 10 the presious sear

The Campany n earlicr yeors had v niled cuslom duly exemptions under the Exporl Promotian Capital Goods Scheme (EPCG) of Minisin of Commeree and Indusin. . Got emment of (ndia Under the Scheme. the
Compam. was required 1o Jullil an cuport obligation o4cr a penod of 515 (o ¢z years Trom the date of avoiling the benclit Dunng FY 2009-20. the depariment had roagked Fricd deposits ameamung 1o INK 11 36 gien
as bank punraniee aganst duis sased by Ine Compans as i did nel flfil the required expon obligalion. The management behies es that considering the export resenue camed by the Compans 15 sulficient 1o discharge the
gxport obligatcns roquired 12 be Tulfilled by the Compan . s will recos er bock the balonce amount of INR, 11 38 (3] March 2023 - IME. 1] 38)

For the licenses. where Lhe Company. fulfils s export obli afller ils farcign wunwinds deferred posermment gram resenuc based on filing of application for Expon Obligation
Discharge Centificates (EQDC} During the ycar. the Company hos fled application for EQDCs amounding 1o TR 4 11 and ateordingh has recopnised anincarne of INR 4 L1431 March 2023 - INR Kil}and 5 camong o
deferred goscmment gront resenue of INR 11 9% (3| March 2003 - [NR 16017 as a1 reporuing daie

Alsg consedering the delan s in Mlimg regquisite documents by the Compaoy with the depanimeot and nen reccipt of EQDCs, the manapensenl cemsiders 1L prudenat 1o acerie interest on all utilised EPCG Ieenses agamst
which the Compam hos not filed spplications and recened EODCs from the depariment. Accordingh. the Compans has further ocerued an wierest of TNR 0 23 during the vear {31 Mareh 2023 - INR 2 06) and has
recorded Lhe some as provision for contingency of INR 13 32 (31 Maech 2025 - INR 13 29 a5 ai reporting dane

The manogement ts confideat that no other ligbility will dovolie upon the Company in thes oaner




Duet [ndia Hoteks {Chenmai OMR) Private Limited

CIN;DES10L HR201 0F TC0458 77

odes 1o the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(AN amowets are 1 INE miftons. unless otherwizs siaied)

43 Other slatutory information

4

45

{i) The Compariy do¢s ol have any Benami properly, where am procceding has been innialed or pending agoinst the Compary for holing any Beaami propony under the Benami Transactions {Prohibition) Acl. 1958
and rukes made thercunder:

() The Compamy has nol boen declarcd as willful defavbter by any bank or (inancial Instituion or other kender

{nin) The: Comparny bas not citered inlo am, ransactions with companics struch ofT onder seclion 248 of the Companies Acl. 2017 or seetion 360 of Companies Ad, 1936

(] The Company docs not have am which is not ded in the books ol that has been dered or dizclosed as income dunng the ycar in Uhe 1ax assessments under the neome Tax Act, 1961
(such as, scarch of sun ey or amy other relevand provigions of the Income Tax Act, 1961

(v} There me no charges or solis/action 11 10 be regisiored with ROC beyond Lhe statutary peried

(11} There are no (unds which have been advanced of loaned of im esied (¢ilher from borroned funds or share previtim of 2y other sources or kind of funds) by the Compan, wo.ar in am. olher persons or ciilics.
including Forcign cntities {1 diancs™). with the und fing. whether ded in woting or otherwisc. that the Imermediary shall direily o indirscth kend or inest in ather persons or cnlitics identiffed in any
manner whaisocs e ("Ulimare B iaries”) by of on hehall of the Company or pros ide any' puaranies, sccurity of Lhe Jike 1 or on behal ol the Ultimae Bencliciancs

(1ii) There are no finds which have been rogeised by Uhe Companmy from any persons of eminics, mgluding Roreign eantics ("Funding Parties™), with the understanding. whether recorded in writing or others isc. that the
Compan shall divecth o indireetly . lend or myest in olher persons or enlitics identificd in any manner s hot (~Uhimaic Beneficiarics™) by or on beholMof the Funding Party of provide any guaranicc. secarity of the
Ike from or on behatl of the Ultimate Benreficianics

(v} The Compans and Group 1s nat a CIC as per the provisions of the Core Insestment Companies (Resen e Bank) Direclions. 2016

1ix) The Compam: has not irded or im esicd in Cryplo currency or Yimual Currency duning the (inancial 1car

1x} The compamy has complied with the mumber of Layers prestribed under section 2(87) of e Campanics Aey, 2013 read with Companics (Restriction on number of Lay ers) Rules. 2077

%1} The Compary did ol obiained bomowings (rom banks and (inancial institution duning the ycar

{xii) The Compans has not eniered mio s scheme oF arangement which hos an accounling impact on curenl o pres ious financial year

%} The Company has net resalued its properms. plant and cquipment of intangible assets o both during current of previous year

(xin) The Compans 15 ol required 1o submil querierh retums of siements with banks during the carrent or pres kus scar

%4 ) The vtk deeds of imumon able property disclosed in the linancial sietements arc held m the neme of e Compam: Howeror, ongmal iide deeds are vnder licr with lender

fiu1) The Compamy has not granted any loans or advances in Lhe nature of loans 1o promoters. directors. KMPs and the refoted parnies (a5 delined under Companics Act. 2013} cither severally or jointh with amy ather
person Lhal are repay sble on demand or wilthaut speeifying amy (erms or period of repaynent

Code on Social Secordy, 2020
The Code on Social Sceurits . 2020 (the Code’) relating 1o emplosce benefits received Presidential assent on 28 Seplember 2020, The Ministny of Labour and Employment hos relcased drofl rules for the Code on 13
Hovember 2020 and inogd suggestions from the sizkcholders The dare of imphkanendation of the Code is 1ol Lo be notificd by the: G and when impl d will impact the it by the Compam:

towards benelits such as Pron idend Fund. Gralvity cic The Compamy will asscss the impaci of the Code and gic cffecl in Lhe (mancial staiements when the Code and Rules thereunder are notificd

In earlicr vears, the Compans bad ¢ngaced with a serice provider for agsisting m hote] renonations. The ser iee pron ider iniliated arbilration procesdings lor recoveny of above amounts and the management fled 2
oounier claun disputing scrice provider’s cloims on accownt of dot and lack of submission of cost details and saving arisimg oul of the cfforis of senice provider. The ComMpany was camying a provision for expeclod
Irability 0 this regard on a prudent basis amouniing 0 TR 1343 as a1 31 March 2023 Duning the current year. a seul & has been 4 with the sem iee pron ider for a ful] and Mmal settlernent of dues

o INR 1030 A dingly. the differential prosision of INR 0 3% (net of advances of INR 2 35) has been reversed in the Staiement of Profit and Loss under “Prosision / Jiabilitics no longer mauired wrilien
back” during the curenl vear

The Compans has incurred a net loss of MR 43 03 million during the year cnded 31 March 2024 and as of that dawe. the Company s current liabilitees excocded its cument sascls by MR 24 39 million. Funther, Lhe

Carpany has contractual cash aufows of Rs 97 81 million {excluding liture l inlgresl pas dut within 12 months of the balance sheet dae
Bascd on fulwe business projections. l.hc Compum expects growth in its ions and i d in coming periods and also. expects W cam enhaneed cash mflows Tom its eperating aclivites
The Company believes such anti d funds from operslions in futare along wilh its Ilqmdll\ position as . 31 March 2024, its &+ ailable revol ing undraom crodin faoilny o 31 March 2024 and

cernain other current assels {Anancial and non-| l'mamal) a5 a1 31 March 2024 will enable il 1 mett its flure known obligations due in nest scar. in the erdinar, course of business. However. i liquidin need were o
arise, the Compary bag access o nequisite nancial and operational support from SAMHI Hoteds Limited (hobding compam ). which should cnable il 1o meet ils ongoing capital, operating. and other liquidin

requirgments. bdorcover, the Compam will conlinue o consider vonious t ing options lo imizc liguidiny and | cosh reg U5 NGCCsdn
The notes from Motz 1 1o Mote 46 form an imcaral pan of these financial sesemenls
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